United Nat'lg[](s 1/ bl _ Ac.6/54/5R.33

AR\
\\4 )\// Fifty-fourth session 2 Decemb&®99
NS .

=7 Official Records Original: English

Sixth Committee

Summary record of the 33rd meeting
Held at Headquarters, New York, on Monday, 15 November 1999, at 3 p.m.

Chairman Mr. MochochOoKO . ... ... (Lesotho)

Contents
Agenda item 160: Measures to eliminate international terrorcemtinued
Agenda item 154: United Nations Decade of International lcomtinued
(a) United Nations Decade of International Lasetitinued

(b) Outcome of the action dedicated to the 1999 centennial of the first International
Peace Conferencedntinued

This record is subject to correction. Corrections should be sent under the signature of a member of the
delegation concernedithin one week of the date of publicatitinthe Chief of the Official Records
Editing Section, room DC2-750, 2 United Nations Plaza, and incorporated in a copy of the record.

Corrections will be issued after the end of the session, in a separate nourgér each Committee.

99-82454 (E)



A/C.6/54/SR.33

The meeting was called to order at 3.20 p.m. of Kuwaiti and other nationals whom it had captured
during its occuption of Kuwait and remained under
obligation to resume cooperation with the committees

Agenda item 160: Measures to eliminate formed to determine the whereabouts of such prisoners.
international terrorism (continued (A/54/37,

A/54/301 and Add.1; A/C.6/54/2; AIC.6/54/L.1 and - M Al-Kadhe (Iraq), speaking on a point of order,
L.2) ’ ’ stated that the Kuwaiti representative should refrain from

commenting on matters which were the concern of the

1. MrAl-Saidi (Kuwait) said thatterrorism, which hadsecuyrity Council and thus irrelevant to the item under
widened in incidence and scope during recent years, W@&cussion.

the product of an extremism which was unconnected to any Mr. Gao F hi id that the | ional
specific geographical region, culture or religion. With itd- I. Gao Feng (China) said that the internationa

dangers sweeping the entire globe, terrorism constitut%ﬁmm“n'tybha(:] Ionhg waged war against tl)nternipor][ald
a major concern of the international community. terrorism, but the phenomenon was yet 1o be eradicated.

It might be thatinternational measures did not address the
2. InthatcontextKuwait had adopted various legal angot causes of terrorism. Effective cooperation in good faith
practical measures, particularlyin regard to aviation safepf, the part of the entire international community and
with a view to cooperating in the efforts to combafntegrated and multidimensional action were required. If
terrorism. It had aISO acceded to most Ofthe”HHUmal no acuon was taken but |nstead |ts root causes were
conventions on terrorism and had signed the Arafp|iperatelycreated and protected, it would not be possible
Convention on the Suppression of Terrorism. It shared ttt?suppress international terrorism.
view that the capacity of the International Crime

Prevention Centre of the United NationsSecretariatmu7st His Government, which was committed to

be increased with a view to strengthening internation fstablishing a just and rational new inte_rnational o_rder,
cooperation in that area. It also supported the conveni d acc_eded to mpst of _the_antl-terrorlst c_onv_entlons,
of a high-level conference in 2000 under the auspices filled its convention obhgatl(_)ns, engagec_l in bilateral
the United Nations to formulate a jointorganized responé@reemehms and at_it(_)pted 35?”83 of domestic measures. Its
ofthe international communitytoterrorismin all its form£PProach was positive and sincere.

and manifestations. 8. Hisdelegation congratulated the Ad Hoc Committee

3.  Efforts aimed at combating terrorism, including th stablished by General Assembly resolution 51/210 on

elaboration of a comprehensive legal framework ?rmulati_ng, within a few sh_ort years, the Intern_ational
conventions and the prosecution and trial of those wigPnvention fortheSuppressmn_ ofTerrorist Bomblng_s and
perpetrated acts of terrorism, should also continﬁge draft international convention for the suppression of
unabated, although it was important to maintain &€ financing of terrorism (A/C.6/54/L.16) — a

distinction between terrorism and the struggle of peoplﬁgvelopment of greatljlgm_flczlance and a mgjordedf_f;)_rt ”:at
for self-determination. It was equally important that afi'S Government would actively support — in addition to

countries should cooperate to provide the resources nee§8g¢!uding preliminary - deliberations on the draft

to combat terrorism, in which connection his delegatiofOnVention onthe suppression ofacts of nuclear terrorism.
supported Security Council resolution 1269 (1999). with"e manifestations ?f mtern?tlonal ;errorlftr_r; were,
a view to eliminating terrorism, States should bECWEVer, increasingly complex and multifarious.
encouraged to accede to the relevant irgtiomal and Consideration should therefore be given to the early
regional conventions and other conventions should {)%rmulation of acomprehensive international convention.
elaborated to cover any existing gaps. It was also vital thatVou!d be difficult, but so long as action was taken in a
the members of the international community should arri?©Perative spiritan appropriate solution could be found.
at a definition of terrorism and ensure non-interference [{€anwhile, tEe I”Jiasf“reﬁ contalneﬁ mdthe existing
the internal affairs of States, as well as refrain from arfjPnventions should be further strengthened.

form of activity relating to or in furtherance of terrorism9. Ms. Randrianarivony (Madagascar) said that

4 His delegation condemned all forms ofterrorism thié\ternational terrorism aimed to destabilize international
most serious being State terrorism, which Kuwait haface and security and was a major obstacle _to_countrles’
experienced during the Iragi invasion. The Iraqc:rxconomicamd social development. Constantvigilance and

Governmentwas continuing toholdin its prisons hundred& onger international coopatron were required to combat
the phenomenon.



A/C.6/54/SR.33

10. On 1 October 1999 her Government had signed thetical and based on principled positions, his delegation
International Convention for the Suppression of Terroristas ready to help overcome differences that had impeded
Bombings. It had also recently acceded to variowesarlier adoption of the draft convention.

international anti-terrorist conventions, including thg_ He welcomed the completion of the draft
International Convention against the Taking OfHOStag%’ternational convention for the suppression of the

of 1979, the Convention on the Prevention and Punishmem]tancing of terrorism. Although his delegation had had

_Of Crimes _agains_t Internationally Protected F)ersonﬁi’fﬁcultieswith some ofthe approachestakentodefinethe
including Diplomatic Agents, df973, and the Protocol for

h . fUnlawful £ Viol : scope of the draft convention, it was ready to join in its
the Suppression of Unlawful Acts of Violence at Airports, y,ion which closed a loophole in terrorist activities.
Serving International Civil Aviation, supplementarytothe

Convention for the Suppression of Unlawful Acts againd#- The achievements of the international community,
the Safety of Civil Aviation, of 1988. The Government hagspecially the United Nations, over the past three years in
also undertaken ratification of the Convention on th#ding practical ways of combating international terrorism

Marking of Plastic Explosives for the Purpose of Detectiomad been remarkable. He also commended the adoption of
of 1991. the Organization of African Unity Convention on the

Prevention and Combating of Terrorism in 1999. Tragic

11. W'th;]n fher_country, m(_easurg_s had be(;:)n taken_é?/ents in the recent past were a clear reminder that the
reassurethe oreign commumtyan _mvestors y.moum'ﬂg{ernational community mustmeain viglantand respond
a permanent anti-terrorist operation round diplomat

LS At th . llevel. her deleati | ickly and resolutely to threats that arose. The Ad Hoc
MISSIons. e regionallevel, her delegation welComesy , mittee had a modest but crucial function in that

the ado_ptlon of the Orgamzanon of Afncan Un'_tyregard: it must complete its mandate and elaborate a
Convention on the Prevention and Combating OfTe”O”Sgbmprehensive legal regime to deal with international
in July 1999. Her country had also taken an active part {Brrorism

the regional meeting for Africa held in Kampala in

DecemberL998 to prepare for the Tenth United Nationd5- His Government was party to 5, and signatory to 1,
Congress on the Prevention of Crime and the Treatmé}flthe glObal instruments listed in the SeCfetary-General,S
of Offenders, which had recommended that the strugdi@Port (A/54/301). The Hijacking Act, which prescribed
against terrorism should be Strengthened, given the Serimalties commensurate with the seriousness ofthe crimes
threat that it posed to human rights and stability, and thit Proscribed, gave domestic effect to three of those
the Congress should examine deficiencies in extraditidiStruments. The Governmentwas studying the remaining
procedures, prosecution and asylum legislation, and displBgtruments with a view to ratifying oceeding to them
greater vigilance and international solidarity again@t the earliest opportunity. It had also entered into
terrorism. Her Government also aligned itself with thBumerous bilateral air services agreements which had
position taken at the Twelfth Conference of Heads of Stalt@bust aviation security provisions.

or Governmentofthe Movement of Non-Aligned Countriesg. Mr. Hetesy (Hungary) said that his delegation
in 1998. It supported unreservedly the work on the twendorsed the statement by Finland on behalf of the
draft conventions by the Ad Hoc Committee and hoped thgl,ropean Union at the 31st meeting of the Sixth
the draft international convention for the suppression @fommittee. His Government had consistentlported

the Financing of Terrorism would be adopted atthe currefie establishment of a global system based on a unified
session. Concerted efforts were the best way of combatigernational approach and effective cooperation. Tangible
terrorism; measures taken by countries on their own wollglsyits had already been achieved. The draft international
not suffice. convention for the suppression of the financing of

12. Mr. Chimimba (Malawi) said that his Governmentterrorism, elaborated after wide-ranging, heated but always
had always advocated the totaingination of nuclear professional deliberations, had a far broader scope than
weapons and other weapons of mass destruction d¥@viousrelated conventions and would raise irggonal
therefore had no difficulty in supporting the initiative bysooperation to a new level. Adoption however, would be
the Russian Federation for a convention on the suppressfsHY the first step. Success would be measured by the level
of acts of nuclear terrorism. The danger of nucled intérnational aceptance and implemgtion. The
weapons, material or know-how falling into the wrongrogressive nature of the draft convention would make its
hands was as real as the consequences were potenti@ifprporation into national legal systems more difficult
devastating. Recognizing that the issues at stake wép@n had been the case with earlier conventions. For



A/C.6/54/SR.33

example, it called for prosecution or extradition for act€ommittee against reopening the text, which had been
that were not yet criminalized in all States. Higarefullynegotiatedinboththe Ad Hoc Committee andthe
Government, as a party to all the major terrorism-relatélorking Group. In addition to the well-tried “extradite or
conventions, except the International Convention for thprosecute” regime, the draft Convention contained several
Suppression of Terrorist Bombings, which it planned teew elements, taking into account the complexities of
sign before the end of the year, would do its best to beconméernational fund-raising activities for terrorism. Its
partytothe draft convention and would use the establisheffective implementation would require the adoption of
frameworks for cooperation with the European Union tdomestic measures by States to enable their financial
solve all outstanding issues. institutions to prevent and counteract the international

17. His delegation was concerned at the protractgbovementoffundsforterrorism.Such measures would be

negotiations on the draft convention on the suppression%f’c'al in countering the fund-raising networks of terrorist

acts of nuclear terrorism, which was ripe for adoptiorg.ro“ps'

Although its scope had remained a major stumbling blocRD. Unlike existing anti-terrorist conventions, which
that could be clarified while preserving the status quo imddressed manifestations ofterrorism already experienced,
other fields, such as disarmament, without blocking thtée draft international convention for the suppression of
possibility of future legal and practical developments iacts of nuclear terrorism addressed the increasing
those areas. The Working Group of the Sixth Committgmssibility of nuclear material falling into unlawful hands.
had put forward some balanced and encouraging propos&lis delegation hoped that a compromise solution could be
The speedy adoption of the draft conventions woulidund to the one outstanding issue on the scope of
provide a further basis for deterrence and facilitate the staplication of the convention.

of dlscussm_ns on th_e draft convention proposed by thg Some emerging trends in terrorist operations could
representgtlve oflr_1d|a andtheco_nvenm_g Ofaconf.erenﬁgsume critical proportions if not countered through
on further international cooperation against terror'Sm'enhanced international cooperation. Terrorist groups were
18. Mr. Perera (SriLanka) said that his country was allresorting to electronic communications for international
too familiar with the devastatingimpact of terrorism on thizind raising, often through front organizations ostensibly
lives of innocent people and on the process of seekify humanitarian purposes. Another problem wasthe abuse
political solutions to national issues. The task before tloé refugee status by supporters and sympathizers of
international community was therefore to send out a strotgyrorist groups abroad, particularly to raise financing.
message that terrorism against unarmed civilians wa@sganized trafficking of personsintoforeign countries also
morally repugnant and legally uc@eptable. His provided terrorists with a source of income through
Government was party to six of the internationatxtortion. His delegation was pleased that the declaration
conventions adopted over the years by the United Natiorsslopted in 1996 as an annex to General Assembly
including the mostrecent, the Intational Convention for resolution 52/210 made it clear that the Convention
the Suppression of Terrorist Bombings, which had beealatingtothe Status of Refugees should not provide a basis
given effect at the national level through the enactmentfar the protection of perpetrators of terrorist acts.

the Suppression of Terrorist Bombings Act No. 11 of199%,2_ Convinced that concerted international action was
Measures were also under W?‘y_to enableth_e Govemmﬁ@éessary to eliminate international terrorism, his
to accede to most of themaining conventions. That yg|a4ation welcomed the proposal by India to elaborate a
tes_t|f|ed to t_he priority _that the Government attached mprehensive convention on international terrorism and
United Nations initiatives to eliminate mternatlona{he proposal by the Non-Aligned Movement to convene a
terrorism. high-level conference in 2000 under the auspices of the
19. Hisdelegation was firmly committed to the adoptioknited Nations to further strengthen international
of the draft international convention for the suppressiaboperation against terrorism.

of the financing of terrorism. Funds collected by terrorisig_ Mr. Yusoff (Malaysia) said that it was incumbent on

groups in foreign countries, often through fronf,qniernational communityto define the term “terrorism”
organizations with ostensibly charitable, social or cultur avoid misinterpretation. None of the anti-terrorist

goals, were a major source ofsu_stenanceforfcheir E’_‘CtiViti(?C?hventions so far elaborated had defined it, and only one
and the need to deprive terrorists of such financing WaSen mentioned the word “terrorist” in the title. His

increasinglyrecognized. He associated hisdelegationw’ﬁ@Ie ation understood the ordinary meaning of the term
the words of caution by the Chairman of the Ad Hoc g y g



A/C.6/54/SR.33

“terrorist” to be a person who used violence to threaten on the need for a comprehensive international convention
harm the public for the purpose of imposing demands @m terrorism.

_Governm_ents,orga_nizat_ionsorgroups.Thecostsinvolvgg_ His Government had found the training programmes
n coml_;atmg terrorism diverted scarce resogrce;that COLéJﬁjd seminars and workshops on aviation security organized
otherwise be used f_ordevelopment. Malay3|are|ter_ate_d the International Civil Aviation Organization very
strong condemnation of all acts of terrorism as crimin eful in developing its own national aviation security
and unjustifiable, regardless of motivation, wherever a’{F];ining programme on combating and preventing
by whomsoever committed. incidents of unlawful interference with civil aviation.

24. His delegation viewed with alarm the enormous, Mr. Diab (Lebanon) said that his country was
devastation which could be unleashed through acts deavouring to strengthen its laws to punish acts of

nucle_ar terrorism and behev_ed that one of the mo?érrorism, to which end it had acceded to several of the
effective means of suppressing nucle_ar terrqn;m Wiiternational conventions on terrorism and remained
nuclear disarmament, leading to the ult_lma_te eI'mmat'or,[bmmitted to effective international cooperation for the
of nuclea_r weapons. State;. hfid an obllgatlc_m not Only(!igvelopment of international law to combat the danger of
pursue disarmament negotlatlpns in good fa_'th but alsotté)rrorism. Inthat connection, itwas essential tounderstand
bring them to an early conclus_|on. The creation of furt_h%e roots of terrorism and the problems which it created,
nuclear-weapons-free zones, like those already establishgg, o than simply to address its violent aspects and seek

:2 Sogth-Eag.t ﬁ‘s'%’ Aftr)lga, the SOILéthb Pacific _and I‘at”gtabilityfrom anarrow pldical perspective. In elabating
merica and the Caribbean, wou e a major step nventions on terrorism, it was important to maintain a

promoting nuclear non-prolifation and hencein reducingclear distinction between terrorism and the struggle of

the threat of nuclear terrorism. peoples to resist occupation and realize their right of self-
25. Malaysia fully concurred with the views expressedetermination, particularly since the realization of that
in the Committee the year before by Zimbabwe on behaifjht eliminated a major cause in the spread of violence
of the Non-Aligned Movement with regard to the drafand unrest. The resistance of the Lebanese people, for
international convention for the suppression of acts ekample, against the highly repugnant form of terrorism
nuclearterrorism. Theissues of concernincluded but wezenstituted by the Israeli occupation of their territory was
not limited to the provisions of the preamble, article 1 anlout a form of struggle for freedom and of legitimate self-
article 4 of the draft. defence. State terrorism was more serious than terrorism
theby individuals, as illustrated by the arbitrary practices
suppression of the financing of terrorism being elaborat¥dich Israeli forces carried out against the inhabitants of
IShe occupied Arab territories. Referring to the many

on the initiative of the French delegation would fill a ga : held i i ori . h of
left by previous anti-terrorist conventions. However, sinc_'eebanese detainees held in Israeli prisons in breach o

a number of its provisions had far-reaching implicationg,“emational conventions, he said he regretted the silence
his delegation needed more time to study it of the international community in the face of such terrorist

) ) crimes, which proved the existence of double standards.
27. It was encouraging to note in the report of tht%

Secretary-General (A/54/301 and Add. 1) that many Sta I_-|e emphasized that the legal framework to_co_mbat
had entered into agreements at the regional ah%rrorl_sm s_hould observe the fundam_ental pr_mmpl_es
international levels for the prevention and suppression gfshfined in the Charter of the United Nations in

international terrorism. Malaysia was party to several gplr;ndectlon W'th_ the :gh:}to r$3|st OCfupatlgn ;’md a;chleve
theinternational legal instrumentdated toterrorism and sel-determination. He therefore weicomed the reference

was considering ratifying the rest. In negotiating sucl? the Declar?tlﬁn 8”. thde NOc_casmn of _thed F'me;h
instruments,itwasimportanttotakeintoaccountthevi<—:-\/<?§m'versary of the n_|te a_tlons contaln_e In the
of all Member States and to strive for consensus Cmeambles of the draft international convention for the

contentious issues, so that the conventions would trLﬁ ppression of the financing of terrorism and the draft

reflect the collective will of the international community.I ternational _conventlon for_ the suppression of acts .O.f

His delegation supported the collective position stated qle_qr terrorism. However, in the absenc_e of any specific

the Twelfth Conference of Heads of State or Governme ?fmmon_ of terrorls_m, both would continue to su,_lffer

of Non-Aligned Countries held at Durban, South AfricaSUbStar?tIaI gaps, asin the case ofthe other c_onvennons on
the subject. Ofthese, the Intational Convention for the

Suppression of Terrorist Bombings contained the most

26. The draft international convention for



A/C.6/54/SR.33

explicit definition, but it did not yet have enoughadopted a convention on preventing and combating
signatures to enter into effect. Similarly, the scope of thterrorism.

draft international convention for the suppression of a Although the draft international convention on the
ofnuclear terrorism wasstillamatterofgreatcontroversgubpression of the financing of terrorism was not the

particularly in connection with State terrorism. EChoing ot |egal instrument, his delegation was convinced that
the view of the Movement of Non-Aligned Countries, hg 45 the best that could be obtained in the circumstances
cautioned against using the same language used in &\ 5,10 make a valuable contribution. One of the most
Intern_anonal Convention for the Suppression of Terro”_ﬁtffective means of combating criminal activity was to cut
Bombings and also stressed that the draft conventigg o, rces of financing. The principle underlying the
ShO.U|d cover the su_bject of thilicit collection of convention, that all forms of support to terrorists must be
radioactive waste, which should be regarded as a formgf, jicated, was one of the basic tenets of international
nuclear terrorism. cooperation against terrorism.

31. He hoped that those issues would not be consider:%j It was worth considering, however, whether the
from a purely political viewpoint, which would undermine ’ '

int . | ation t batt . q ontinuous elaboration of limited ad hoc conventions on
m_ ana_lon_a coop '9” oc_om_ a e”of'sm an p(_)sere errorismwas an effective use ofresources. The framework
difficulties in connection with interpreting the duties an

" ts of States t d h i It f international conventions on measures to eliminate
commitments ot States towards such conventions. it Was,qrism so far constructed was impressive, but in
essential to strive anew to redress such flaws with a view,

o . borating each new instrument it became increasingly
to achieving a more successful convention that respon_d(ﬁ icult to avoid redundancies and contradictions with

to the needs of different legal systems. Moreover, SOIV'rEg(isting conventions and other international law

those difficulties atthe presentstagewouldfacilitatefutugﬁitiatives_ The consequent resort to sophisticated legal

work on the draft comprehensive convention OR,o hanisms to circumvent those difficulties obscured the

international terrorism. In conclusion, he said that he o+ of the text and left too much to the discretion and

looked forwardto the convening of a high-level conferenGg o o etation of the States parties. A series of specific
under the auspices of the United Nations to formulate

- ) o ) t€rrorist acts had been identified without ever defining the
joint organized response to terrorism in all its forms angd o “terrorism”
manifestations and to genuine constructive cooperation '

with Committee members in the task of elaborating®- Moreover, the adoption of a long series of
conventions which responded to all hopes. conventions resulted in a costly and time-consuming

. . ... process of review and amendment of domestic law in each
32'. Mr. . Hoffman (South Africa) _sa|d that In 1S case prior to ratification. Those resources might better be
dehber_atlons on the d_raft _convent_|ons before_ it, th§pent in implementing the spirit of the conventions.
Committee should bear in mind that it€sess or failure

would affect the lives of the people of the world. Terroris/d7-  Although many outstanding issues on the substance
by its nature undermined the standards of life and tipéterrorismremained, theycould nolonger be sidestepped.
human rights that the Charter ofthe United Nations calléiwas time to heed the call made at the Twelfth Conference
upon Member States to promote and protect. As the WOI(P(HHeadS of State or Government of Non-Aligned Countries
grew smaller through globalization, no State, and hent®1998 for an international summit conference under the

no individual, was immune from the effects of terrorisnﬁuspices ofthe United Nations on international terrorism,
call reiterated by the Heads of State and Government of

33. South Africa therefore reiterated its unequivocq e Organization of African Unity in July 1999. The
condemnation of terrorism i_n all its forms fand its _Su_ppo'éeneral Assembly in resolution 53/108 had decided that
for the efforts of the international community to eliminatg, o g estion of convening a high-level conference should
terrorism. The Government was continuing the process|of y4ressed during the present session of the General
reviewing national legislation to enable the country tﬂssembly. His deleation believed that the time was ripe
ratify the existing international conventions on terrorisig, . 21k and forward-looking debate on proactive

_and encpuraged othe_r Statestodothe same. Of?'yconce ﬁﬂroaches bytheinternational communitytoterrorismin
international coop@tion could ensurethatterrorists foun Il its forms

no safe haven in any corner of the world. Significant )
regional initiatives had also been taken. During the pa38. The Committee, too, was at a crossroads. It should

year, for example, the Organization of African Unity had@ke up the challenge of elaborating a comprehensive
convention on terrorism, consolidating previous gains but



A/C.6/54/SR.33

addressing the issue of terrorism squarely, and it must&&parate occasions. He regretted that the proposals put
prepared to devote sufficient time to that complex bdorward in that document had not been included for
imperative task. discussion by the Working Group and had merely been

39. Mr. Obeid (Syrian Arab Republic) said that hiSreferred to in paragraph 99 of _document A/C.6/54/L.2
country had always condemned all forms of terrorisn{der “further proposals for article 2”. Other oral and

whether perpetrated byindividuals, groups or States actiY’((ytten proposals submitted by his country alone or in
ncert with other countries had been similarly ignored.

alone or in concert with others. Terrorism wa$§

unacceptable itimes of peace or war. It was, however,H'S delegation therefore could not agree that intent should

important to differentiate between pure terrorism an%onstitute an offence i_f none of the acts sp_ecified in article
legitimate national struggle against foreign occupation. 4t°f the draft convention had been committed.

was therefore important that an international conferend@. Any draft that had not been properly discussed, but
should be heldin order to agree on a definition of terrorismas presented with the ultimatum “take it or leiiveould

and distinguish it from national liberation. He recallediot meet the specifications for international codification,
General Assemblyresolution 53/108 which had noted thiaeit must be considered as a political declaration. His
the Twelfth Conference of Heads of State or Governmedglegation had made that pointon many previous occasions
of Non-Aligned Countries had called for an internationadnd wished to reiterate it yet again, for the record.
summit conference under the auspices of the Unitédthough other delegations had expressed support for his
Nations to formulate a joint organized response of tlewuntry’s position, pressure was being brought to bear in
international community to terrorism in all its forms andrder to ensure acceptance ofthe whole package. Theissue
manifestations. must be fully and properly discussed and consensus

40. Withregardtothedraftinternational convention forreached. The conditionspessary for consensus did not

the suppression of the financing of terrorism higxist. His delegation therefore deeplyregretted its inability

delegation had notedthattheamendmentsithadproposté)d,SUpport a draft convention in which it had no

which represented the concerns of a number of States, ﬁ:g&fidence. It would be difficult for a draft that had not

not been made in the draft, and that the draft remainBﬂen properly discussed to be adopted unanimously. Asit
vague.Theterms“financing”and“internationalterrorismwas' the draft represented an attempt to impose the

had not been defined. The draft convention dealt Wiﬁ,]onvention _asafaitaccompli.TheWorkingGrouphad not
persons who provided or collected funds for the purpos tsated thatit had re_ached consensus on the articles of the
of terrorism, and made no mention of States, while Sta éaft convention. His delegation had therefore been very

terrorism was a much more serious problem, as had b prised b_y the statement made to the Sixth Committee
emphasized in Security Council resolution 1269 (199 .y_”‘e Chairman of_the Working Gro_up_ to the effect that
Instead of providing a definition of “financing”, the draftWhile notall delegations had been satisfied by the draftand

completely ignored the term. While the terms “acts giome had expr_essed their reservations with regard to
terrorism” and “terrorism” appeared inthepreambletoth%erta'” formulatlo_ns, he_ cautioned against reopening the
draft convention, they were not defined in the body of th:gstrumeht frc:r ?éscgssmr? 3ndf recomm_end\eNd_ rt1hallltdthe
text. In the absence of any definitions, he believed that t eommltteeshoucr? _optt € frahtco\?vveri:_tlon.e itha hl.Je
convention in its current form would lead to disputefESPect to LT ;'Tan ho t el or Ingh Loudp, 'C'IS
between States. Despite the fact that his delegation hqi%egatlon eleve that the ora report he ha made
made repeated requests for discussion of its proposrﬁgresented o_nlyh|s personal views. Hetherefore be_lleved
definition of terrorism whose funding would constitute 412t the Working Group must be given the opportunity to

criminal act, its proposals had been ignored. It wa%’”Sidef the proposals made with regard tq the draft
disturbing to realize that the definition of terrorism hagonvention and that due respect should be given to the

been left for those in power to decide, rather than tho gneerns of his own and many other delegations. The

; : : lation of articles 1 and 2 needed a great deal of
who applied the law. He firmly believed that there was ng'mu
justification for the abuse of power. improvement. The draft should be referred to the Ad Hoc

Committee for proper consideration in order to permit a
41. He wished to point out yet again that the proposghnsensus to be reached.

submitted by his country, contained in document i ) ) .
AIC.6/54/WG.1/CRP.24, while correctly rendered ir§13. With regardtothedraftlnternatlonalcon_ventlonfqr
English, was incomplete and distorted in the Arabi@esuppressmn ofacts ofnuclear terrorism, his delegation

version, despite having been correctly submitted on thrEg/térated its support for the position adopted by the



A/C.6/54/SR.33

Movement of Non-Aligned Countries. The excellent workf serious work on the formulation of a comprehensive
done by the Ad Hoc Committee and the Working Grouponvention for the suppression of terrorism.

represented a step in the right direction. It was, howevg,fr,:-) Mr. Lavalle Valdés (Guatemala) said that his

restricted by the fact that it had only dealt with acts Q| ation supported the statement that would be made by

nuclear terrorism committed by individuals, and had faileﬁi1e delegation of Costa Rica on behalf of the Group of
to include nuclear terrorism committed by States. It W&Santral American States

difficulttoimagine that ordinaryindividuals couldromit

acts of nuclear terrorism without the support of State46. Whenthefirstinternational treaty againstterrorism
While the work that had already been done was greathtd beensignedin 1963, astrong, although minimal, legal
appreciated, the Movement of Non-Aligned Countrie®asis for combatingterrorism had already existed for some
which represented 113 States, together with numerdlif@e. Terrorist attaCkS, regardleSS of the CirCUmStanceS,
other States from different groupinQS, had expresswre Veryserious crimes which had always been pUniShed
concern and reservations with regard to the formulation Y national penal codes. Such crimes included
the articles of the draft convention. It was vital that suc@ssassination, murder and physical injury, as well as
animportantinternational convention should not draw tH&iminal damage and other crimes against property. All
cloak of legitimacy over State terrorism, which wa§uch shameful acts were violations of natural law, known
infinitely more dangerous than any act committed by a#smala in seas opposed tmala prohibita Thus, States
individual. Security Council resolution 1269 (1999) ha#id not normally have to create new categories of offences

noted the significance of acts of international terrorism ifft Order to penalize the acts of terrorism characterized in
which States were involved. It was surprising that thig@€ relevantinternational conventions. For overahundred

international community shouldiotinalize acts of nuclear years there had been a series of treaties on extradition and

terrorism while failing to do the same for the use or thred{dicial assistance that aimed to establish cooperation
of use of nuclear weapons, which were the most dangerdifgong States to fight international crime. Even before
of all weapons of mass destruction. The probiem é@63,there had been some “international SUperStrUCtUre”
terrorism was compounded by a reluctance to call thin§@ deal with terrorist attacks that went beyond a purely
by their proper names and by a deliberate vagueness tﬁatlonal context. The series of international treaties to
allowed hostile accusations to be levelled against certaMpich he had justreferred was an essential complement to

peopieS' despite the absence of any Supporting evidenmt structure, along with the declarations on terrorism

adopted bythe General Assemblybyconsensusin 1994 and
44. A new form of terrorism, namely, intellectual b y yby

terrorism, was continually bringing pressure to bear on

peopies and individuals alike with a view to persuadin@?. The risks associated with terrorist action were
victims that they Shouidmeptattacks on their freedom ianeaSing, with the use of eXpIOSiveS that had horrendous
and rights without putting up any resistance. Legitimagffects. There was also concern that terrorist groups could
resistance such as that of the people of south Lebandtke use of nuclear, chemical or biological weapons as
whose territory had been occupied since the Israeliinvasi#i§!l as the most recent developmentstéthnology.

of 1978, was designated as terrorism. Since 1967, tN@reover, the growing internationalization of terrorism
Syrian Arab Golan had been occupied by Israel, its peom@s keeping the world in a constant state of tension. The
expelled from their homes and their lands expropriateB@ckground to terrorist movements was international
those who had Stayed were Subiecta]b manner of ConﬂiCt, and terrorists aimed to achieve as much pUbI|C|ty
oppression and Israeli settlements had been established@fdP0ssible by means of attacks with an international
remained there, in the face of the relevant Security Coungimension. The shadowy figures of what might be called
resolutions. That could only be described as terrorism aHtg “rearguard of terrorism” could be acting from any
an ongoing criminal act. The Syrian Arab Republi€ountry, and the sources of financing were equally
condemned all forms of terrorism, whether committed hiyternational. People could become the victims of terrorist
an individual or by a State. Its behaviour in the Arab landgimes in any part of the world. The international nature
that it occupied made Israel a foremost perpetrator of Stéte terrorism was also reflected in the activities or
terrorism. There was no policy for dealing with Stat€ircumstances of its victims. They were often performing
terrorism. Nevertheless, the Syrian Arab Repubiic Wasilaternational pUbllC duties, or were abroad on business or
partytoanumber ofinternational and regional conventio@§ tourists. Furthermore, the amount of death and

concerning terrorism and looked forward to the beginnirf@gstruction that could be caused by terrorist attacks also
contributedtotheinternational nature ofthe phenomenon:



A/C.6/54/SR.33

the greater the force of an explosion in a crowded area, thalitical process in the international arena, including the
greater probability of there being foreigners among theeace process in the Middle East.

victims. Terrorism also had links with drug trafficking an

arms smuggling, activities which did not stop at nationz&J” .fro
borders.

The ongoing struggle against terrorism had to cover
nts. First of all, States should take all tee@ssary
measures within the framework of their domestic
48. It was inconceivable that the General Assemblggislation and law enforcement policies. No less
should urge States to ensure that their territories were niwiportant, international cooperation in that struggle, on
used as a terrorist base against other States if there wa®ath the regional and international levels, was essential,
danger ofthatactuallyhappening. Another danger was ttiet was a fact which had already been accepted and
possibility that the right of asylum and correspondingecognized in different international forums aedently
institutions could be abused in support of terrorism. Most the United Nations Security Council. Less than one
of the causes promoted by terrorist organizations alreaapnth previously, the framework for the jointinternational
caused hostility between nations, and terrorism couédfort had been outlined in Security Council resolution
clearly seriously jeopardize international peace ar®69 (1999). In the concentrated global effort to combat
security. international terrorism, the Sixth Committee was to
pmote international legal instruments, which would help

49. Even greater efforts should therefore be made at e i Lo
e international community in its struggle to preserve

levels and in all areas to eliminate terrorism. It was :
matter of great concern to his delegation that a numberf§tace and security.

difficulties seemedto beimpeding the adoption ofthedraBB. Israel was party to most of the existing conventions
convention for the suppression of acts of nuclear terrorisiand, as to the remainder, was either reviewing the
With respect to the adoption of the draft internationglossibility of a&cession or was already in the process of
convention for the suppression of the financing afatification. His delegation fully supported the resolution
terrorism, his delegation firmly supported draft resolutiononcerning the international convention for the
A/C.6/54/L.16. Guatemalatherefore hoped that despite theppression of the financing of terrorism. He also urged
comments of the previous speaker the Committee wouttembers of the Committee to participate in the speedy
be able to adopt the draft by consensus at the currémializing of the draft international convention for the
session. suppression of acts of nuclear terrorism. Those two legal
dnstruments, which expressed the clear determination of
gﬂe international community, would be another milestone
Othe ongoing international effort to suppress terrorism.

50. Mr. Keinan (Israel) said that the recent explosio
of three pipe bombs in the coastal town of Netanya, Isra
had wounded at least 14 passers-by. The bombing HA
taken place one daybefore therenewal of permanent staids Mr. Al-Baharna (Bahrain) said he welcomed the

negotiations between Israel and the Palestinians, talks t&acretary-General’s report (A/54/301 and Add.1), which
were to lay the groundwork for a final peace settlementas the follow-up to the 1994 Declaration and General
That brutal attack was a reminder that terrorism was nAssembly resolution 50/53. Although the Secretary-
a theoretical issue, but a real and continuous hazard. General had invited all States to subscribe to the

51. Ithadrecentlybecome evidentthatterrorismwas nlapclaratlon, and provide all theegessary information, _
confined to certain countries or peoples, but had beco @Iy a small number of States had responded. Bahrain
an international menace to all. Extremist groups ef9f°fe urged all States that_ had T‘Ot yet qlone so to
different political and ideological streams had joined han@éqv'de the Secretary—Gene_raI with the information needed
inanunholyalliance, which could leave noone indiffererP implement the Declaration.

or neutral. Indeed, neutrality on terrorism was no long&5. In his country, no specific anti-terrorist law existed,
an option for any State, as the onlookers and bystanderstihough the Penal Code contained penalties for crimes
todaywere the victims of tomorrow. International terrorismonnected with terrorism. Over the past few years, Bahrain
knew no limits or boundaries. It had become aweb ofthobad adopted a series of security measures to protect the
who planned, supported, financed and gave refuge gopulation against international terrorism. It had also
terrorists, as well as States that sponsored and supporededed to many of the intertional conventions listed in
them. It not only affected those who were subject to ithe Secretary-General’s report, including the Tokyo
direct indiscriminate attacks, but it posed a real threat @onvention on Offences and Certain Other Acts
international peace and security, and endangered tBemmitted on Board Aircraft, the Convention for the



A/C.6/54/SR.33

Suppression of Unlawful Seizure of Aircraft, the Montreadubmitted by India at the fifty-third session ofthe General
Convention for the Suppression of Unlawful Acts againgtssembly could serve as a basis for a working paper on
the Safety of Civil Aviation and its Protocol, and thesuch a convention.

Montreal Convention on the Marking of Plastic Explosives

for the Purpose of Detection. As to regional cooperatiomgenda item 154: United Nations Decade of

his country was a party to the Arab Convention on thiaternational Law (continued

Suppression of Terrorism. It was also studying the otheE )
conventions relating to terrorism and hopeddoagle to
them in the shortest possible time.

United Nations Decade of International Law
(continued

Outcome of the action dedicated to the 1999

. . b)
56. The Sixth Committee had made enormous progres(s centennial of the first International Peace

in the past few years, and had adopted all the necessary C .
. . onference(continueq

legal instruments to enhance cooperation between States. (A/C.6/54/L.9, L.10 and L.18)

He hoped the Committee would continue to play that role. ' T ’

The threat of international terrorism jeopardize§9. Ms.FloresLiera(Mexico), speakingas Chairperson

international peace and security, which was vital fo¥f the Working Group on the United Nations Decade of

implementing programmes for developing countries. TH8ternational Law, introduced draft resolution

international community had thus been compelled to makéC.6/54/L.9. She drew attention to the second and fifth

efforts to combat it, which had led to the adoption dpreambular paragraphsand to operative paragraphs 1 and

General Assemblyresolution 49/60in 1994, supplement€d In the seventh preambular paragraph, the word

by the 1996 Declaration. The Ad Hoc Committee had beétterpretation” should be changed to “implementation”

given the task of developing a comprehensive legtd reflect the agreement reached during informal

framework of conventions dealing with internationa¢onsultations. She hoped that the draft resolution would

terrorism. The Sixth Committee should be in a position #@€ adopted without a vote.

adopt the draft convention for the suppression of acts @, praftresolution A/C.6/54/L:9as orally revised, was

nuclear terrorism at the current session. His deleg agopted.

would continue to participateinthe necessarynegotiatiog?

and consultations. Ms. Flores Liera(Mexico), speaking as Chairperson

of the Working Group on the United Nations Decade of
57. Bahrain supported draft resolution (A/C.6/54/L.16hternational Law, introduced draft resolution
on the international convention for the suppression of thgc 6/54/L.10. After drawing attention to the third, fifth
financing of terrorism. However, the Arabictext should b§ng seventh preambular paragraphs and to operative
brought into line with the English version. The adoptioRaragraphs 13 and 20, she said that some issues remained
of measures for the suppression of terrorism and th@tstanding. She drewattention toa conference room paper

prosecution of terrorists would enable States parties to tdghtaining several revisions that was before the members
convention to put an end to international terrorism.  of the Committee.

58. Negotiations should be held on the preparation ofg®  First, the sixth preambular paragraph should be
comprehensive convention on terrorism in all its formseqrafied thus:

including an unambiguous legal definition ofinternational
terrorism. It was important to distinguish terrorism from
the legitimate struggle of peoples for self-determination.
Moreover, although measures had to be taken against
Statesthat were gty of terrorist acts, it was unfortunately
not always possible to distinguish such acts from legitimate
acts of self-defence. It was also important to distinguish
between State terrorism and terrorism on the part of
individuals or groups of individuals who acted without th€3. Second, in the fourteenth preambular paragraph, the
encouragement of States. The draft conventions before therds “plenary meeting of the” and “held” should be
Committeall dealtwith particular aspects ofintational deleted.

terrorism, bL_Jt the inter_national com_munity required 8a Third, a new paragraph 15 (b) should be added,
comprehensive international convention that would cove ading:

all the elements to which he had just referred. The dra

“Recognizinghat,inter alia, the establishment
of the International Tribunal for the Former
Yugoslavia in 1993, the International Tribunal for
Rwanda in 1994, the International Tribunal for the
Law ofthe Seain 1996 and the adoption of the Rome
Statute of the International Criminal Courtin 1998
constitute significant events within the Decade.”

10



A/C.6/54/SR.33

“Recallghat States have the obdiion to solve it was clearly provided for in the Charter of the United
their disputes by peaceful means, including resort ddations.
the International Court of Justice, and that one oft In the past three years, there had been much

main purposes of th_e Decade is to promote fUlliscussion of “preventive diplomacy”, which was designed
respect forthe Court, in ac,(,:ordance with the relevagy preventthe outbreak of hostilities in a given conflict. As
provisions of the Charter. the Court was one of the principal instruments of
She hoped that, in the light of those revisions, the drgiteventive diplomacy, emphasis should be placed on the
resolution would be adopted without a vote. need to comply with its decisions. His delegation fully
supported the Cameroonian amendment; nevertheless, as
eamendmenthad been withdrawn, his delegation would
ot oppose the consensus on the draft resolution.

65. The Chairman drew attention to document
A/C.6/54/L.18 containing a proposed amendment
Cameroon to draft resolution A/C.6/54/L.10.

66. Mr. Tchatchouwo (Cameroon), introducing 71. Mr. Ekedede(Nigeria) said that the Committee was

document A/C.6/54/L.18, said that the proposeﬁ forum in which issues were discussed objectively. For

amendment reiterated Article 94, paragraph 1 of tﬁgat reason, his delegation had no difficulties with the text
Charter of the United Nations. For short-term reason&/0Posed by the coordinator, and viewed it as a balanced
some delegations found it difficult taeept the inclusion reflection of the relevant Charter provisions. As such, the

of the amendment in the draft resolution. His delegatidfi* _STOUId allay ”;_e fearsb of some de_:lﬁgar':lons as to
found that surprising; at the conclusion of the Decade,RPSSiPIé non-compliance by States with the Court's

appeared essential for the international community #CISIONS.

reaffirm the need for States to comply with the decision®. Mr. Fruchtbaum (Solomon Islands) said that his
of the International Court of Justice. delegation would not join the consensus on the draft
67. Since its inception, the United Nations haaesolution. Paragraphs 15 to 18 of the text invited States

endeavoured to promote the peaceful settlement ofdispu?@%m;elrfnaft_'otnal ortganllzlatlorbs tg cotrrl]tlnue Fhelr acttlvmes
between States, including resort to the Court. It w ehaitorinternationalliaw. Under those circumstances,

unclear what purpose would be served by resorting to t £ sectors of soci_etythat had be_en Iqrgely ignored during
Court if States did not undertake to comply with it{he Decade — children, non-university youth and adults

decisions. His delegation, having noted the hesitations,\ﬁ’rl?O had never had th_e opportunity for highereducation—
the part of some delegations, had decided to withdraw 1t uld continue tobe ignored. ltwas _premsel_ythqse people
amendment out of concern for the preservation ar] 0 must be reached, however, if the significance of

strengthening of consensus. He expressed appreciatioﬂgrnat'onal law was ever to be universally understood.

those delegations which had supported the Camerooni&h While the draft resolution called for encouragement
amendment during the debate. to be given to the publication bboks or othematerials,

68. Mr. Ahipeaud (Cote d'Ivoire), explaining his the wide use of electronic media, including radio,

delegation’s position before the adoption of the dratf?lewsmn and the Internet, was not mentioned. The draft

resolution, said that codification was not an intellectu&fSelution referred to international organizations, but not

exercise. The drafting of a norm and its application wem national or local ones, nor did it give much attention to

handin hand. Accordingly, if a State voluntaritgapted the pote_ntlal Importance of no_n-governme_ntal
the jurisdiction of an international court and submitte§'9@nizations or schools in fostering the widest
disputes to it, it was logical to assume that the State waBPreciation of international law.

bound to accept the court’s decisions. 74. In paragraph 20, the General Assembly decided to
69. His delegation found it difficult to discuss thecontinueconsideringdevelopmentsintheimplementation
achievement of the Decade without mentioning th%fthe purposes Ofth? Decade in the framework ofage_nda
decisions and jurisprudence of the International Court Jf™ 153 His delegation had proposed amendments aimed

Justice, which were among the sources ofinternational |a¢7\t,_W|den|ng the scope of the draft resolution on that item,

Except in cases where the Court was requested to givelﬁﬁt as it had done for the draft resolution under

advisory opinion, its decisions were binding on the partiézgnsideration.
to a dispute before it. It was only reasonable to mentiofb. Draft resolution A/C.6/54/L.10, as orally revised,
that idea in a General Assembly resolution, elstas was adopted.

11



A/C.6/54/SR.33

The meeting rose at 6.15 p.m.

12



